FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/21/2020 3:47 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98866-8

SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO.79685-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUSAN CHEN et al.

Petitioners/Respondents/Plaintiffs

v.

DARREN MIGITA, M.D., IAN KODISH, M.D., JAMES METZ, M.D.

Respondents/Appellants/Defendants

SEATTLE CHILDREN'S HOSPITAL

Respondents/Respondents/Defendants

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Susan Chen, *Pro Se* Petitioner PO BOX 134, Redmond, WA 98073 Telephone: (323)902-7038

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Was the trial court's order granting summary judgment in favor of SCH physicians *void ab initio* due to lack of personal jurisdiction based on improper service, unsigned complaints and similar errors, as claimed by the physicians?
- 2. Does the trial court have authority to *further* rule on the merits when it lacks personal jurisdiction due to improper service and unsigned complaints?
- 3. Having presided over the juvenile dependency leading to this litigation, was the order entered by the trial court judge who was mandatorily required to recuse by the Code of Judicial Conduct void *ab initio*?
- 4. Was the trial court's order granting summary judgment in favor of three SCH physicians *void ab initio* as to minors due to lack of legal representation?
- 5. Should the children be bound to the judgment only because their names were mistakenly listed by their *pro se* parents?

- 6. Was the trial court excluded from addressing jurisdictional issues in CR 60 motion?
- 7. Did Division One err in granting *pro se* parents the privilege of practicing law in Washington courts, absent this Court's approval?
- 8. Does RCW 4.08.050 protect minors' interests, or does it jeopardize these voiceless and vulnerable peoples' rights should minors be punished when the request to appoint a guardian ad litem was not made or was untimely made by minors' relatives or friends?
- 9. Does RCW 4.08.050 authorize parents to act on their minor children's behalf, free from consequence of unlawful practice of law?

III. FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. Petitioners were harmed by SCH Physicians' 'outrageous' misconduct, as confirmed by decisions of the offices of the Attorney General and King County prosecutors. Because the Opinion does not accurate state the record, this Court is respectfully directed

to Opening Brief (App. J, at P.9-19)) and Reply Brief (App K, at P. 3-5) as to the basic events. Since Petitioners were nonmoving parties on summary judgment, the facts must be viewed in the light most favorable to them. *Dowler v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 409*, 172 Wn.2d 471, 484, 258 P.3d 676 (2011). Here, the opposite is true: Division One recited facts that are contrary to the record, omitting entirely references to J.L.'s primary physicians, Drs. Green and Gbedawo. Chen's version was further supported by the two dismissal orders (available as public record) and the declarations of professional witnesses: Declaration of John Green, M.D., (CP 829-831) and attorney witness Twyla Carter, WSBA No. 39405 (CP 799-804). *Also*, Declaration of Susan Chen (CP 135-156) (review of J.L.'s 600 pages of medical records that were withheld by Seattle Children's Hospital ("SCH") prior to summary judgment, CP 806-807; CP 158). J.L. was severely harmed by three SCH physicians, Darren Migita, James Metz and Ian Kodish (collectively, "SCH Physicians"). A brief summary of SCH physicians' misconduct may be useful:

SCH Physicians had not seen J.L. previously and did not attempt to consult with J.L.'s
main treating physicians before jumping to an abuse diagnosis that led to a one year outof-home placement for J.L., and a wrongful criminal prosecution against his mother Chen.

- At the Hearing, Darren Migita misrepresented J.L.'s condition to the Court, for example:
 - Migita falsely claimed that J.L. had kidney failure by citing a wrong lab (CP 802; 817); but the only medication given was a "bisacodyl" (for constipation) CP 942;
 - Migita told the Court that J.L. did not have digestive issues, but the records established that Migita prescribed GI medication. CP 137; CP 799-804.
- The Juvenile Court Commissioner was "outrageous" that Darren Migita diagnosed abuse without reviewing J.L.'s medical records, consulting with J.L.'s main treating physicians, or talking to J.L.'s parents. The Court had to order him to do so. CP 106, 234; 803, 830.
- In 2012, Lakeside Autism Center diagnosed J.L. as autistic following three days' testing by a group of professionals. In 2013, <u>Jan Kodish</u> concluded after 40 minutes, with substantial "unknown history", that J.L. was not autistic without following appropriate protocols, including interviews and input from J.L.'s caregivers. CP 147; CP 432-435.
- Both offices of Attorney General and King County prosecutors found the SCAN report authored by James Metz "contrary to" the facts in J.L.'s medical records at SCH. CP 264.
- Finding SCH Physicians' misrepresentations and misdiagnoses, two dismissal orders were entered. Criminal charges were dismissed "in the interest of justice". CP 264, 385.
- SCH Physicians' misrepresentation and misdiagnoses caused severe and permanent regression to J.L. At age 7, he cannot speak, and screams uncontrollably, sometimes for hours, at any actual or possible separation from his parents. These conditions were not present when he was seized. CP 893.

As stated by attorney witness, Twyla Carter, in her declaration (App. M):

- "It readily apparent that the medical providers with the most experience with Ms. Chen and J.L. and the most knowledge with J.L.'s health and well-being, who were all mandatory reporters, all strongly supported Ms. Chen and denied that Ms. Chen was responsible for J.L.'s condition. It was also apparent that [SCH physicians] connected to the original CPS report and J.L.'s removal had little to no experience with J.L. or knowledge of his situation, and rushed to inaccurate judgment based on inaccurate assumption." CP 800.
- "The Dependency Court relied upon Darren Migita's testimony that J.L. was diagnosed as malnourished and Migita's misrepresentation about J.L.'s ability to consume and absorb foods." CP 803.

B. Facing SCH physicians' jurisdictional challenge, trial court entered an ambiguous order, silent in language about with or without prejudice ("2017 Order").

J.L.'s parents, Chen and Lian ("Chen"), pro se sued SCH and SCH physicians, mistakenly

listing minors' names in complaint but quickly informed the court that pro se parents, they could

not represent the children, CP 4 ("I was not able to represent my children"); and asked the court to give them time to retain an attorney (CP 5). SCH physicians filed a pre-discovery Motion for Summary Judgment (CP 288-311; *also* APP. E), arguing at length that trial court lacked personal jurisdiction because they were not SCH employees (CP 194, 198-199, 211, 223), that service at SCH was "insufficient," and that lack of signature on the complaints, and summons without proof of service (CP 227-228) rendered the complaint void *ab initio*:

- "this Court lacks personal jurisdiction over Dr Migita, Dr. Kodish, and Dr. Metz because Plaintiffs failed to effect original service of process". CP 288.
- if the summons and complaint are not completed within 90 days, "the action is treated as if it had not been commenced". CP 300.
- "If the original complaint is void, there is nothing to amend (CP 302); "Something that is "void" has no legal effect". CP 303.
- "Voided complaints have no legal effect and are not subject to later amendment because there is nothing to amend". CP 289.
- "the filing of a void complaint does not commence a civil action". CP 304. "the complaint Plaintiff seeks to amend does not exist, it is a nullity because it was void ab initio and "there can be no 'relation back' to a pleading ... that was a nullity from the start" (bold in original). *Id*.
- plaintiffs' complaints should be dismissed "because they were void ab initio, and therefore, they failed to confer subject matter jurisdiction upon this Court". CP 305.
- "For instance, there is no additional evidence that will change the fact that this Court lacks personal jurisdiction over Dr. Migita, Dr. Kodish and Dr. Mertz". Reply, at CP 484.
- "As noted above, no evidence will change the fact this Court lacks personal jurisdiction over defendants." Reply, at CP 486.

The SCH Physicians claimed that since the complaints were void ab initio and statute of

limitations had now run, the claims must be dismissed in their entirety.¹ SCH Physicians'

¹ Petitioners contended that SCH Physicians' jurisdictional arguments only applied to the parents, not children whose statute of limitations had not expired (CP 14; 895), as recognized by SCH (CP 639).

jurisdictional attack continued at Hearing (CP 520, 522-3), with further challenge to the lack of appointment of a guardian ad litem for the children. CP 524-5. Chen requested continuance and informed the court of Defendants' untimely service was on "the week of February 17". CP 548; 750-752. Judge Hill granted summary judgment without hearing the merits. CP 545 ("No, I don't need to hear the merits of her case"). Her decision did not address jurisdiction and was silent about whether it was with or without prejudice. Petitioners moved for reconsideration, asking the Court to clarify whether the order was with or without prejudice for the children. CP 562-564. *Also see*, App. F. Judge Hill declined to clarify the order without clarification or comment.

C. The chief trial judge resolved the jurisdictional ambiguity in light of this Court's holding in *State v. Northwest Magnesite Co.* ("2019 Order").

Petitioners' CR 60 Motion to vacate summary judgement was before the Chief Judge Ken Schubert per KCLCR 60 (e)(2)(iii). Judge Schubert granted Petitioners' Motion for reconsideration and vacated the summary judgment order as to the SCH physicians based on observed irregularities. Judge Schubert explained that a court lacking jurisdiction cannot rule on merits. *See*, App. G, Report of Proceedings ("RP") at 13. Judge Schubert articulated:

"No one to my knowledge provided me with a case where a party can both defend on procedural grounds and say, "Hey, I am never served. Your Honor, with all due respect, you don't have jurisdiction over me. But, by the way, go ahead and reach the merits and dismiss these claims against me with prejudice, even though you've never had jurisdiction over me. To me that doesn't make sense.

Why would a Court ever reach the merits of a defense when the party is, as a preliminary matter, saying, "You don't even have jurisdiction over me? You deal with jurisdiction first. That's the way it's always been. That's the way it should have been here."

Judge Schubert also explained why this order was ambiguous (App. G, at RP, at 32-34):

- One, [Judge Hill] didn't feel clarification was necessary or I guess really just [Judge Hill] didn't feel clarification ...[Judge Hill] didn't feel clarification was necessary." RP, at 32.
- Now, the clarification not being necessary could be seen one of two ways. Id.

- "I didn't need to clarify because it was obviously with prejudice" or "I didn't need to clarify because it was obviously without prejudice." RP, at 33.
- The thing is, though, is we have a court rule...that says that when there is a dismissal...under CR 41...*Id*.
- So at least in the context of a voluntary dismissal, the lack of clarity, the default means without prejudice in that scenario. So but where is there ever a scenario that a lack of clarity means with prejudice? RP, at 34.

In the Order, Judge Schubert explained his reasoning on granting vacation:

"Whether the Court dismissed plaintiffs' complaint on jurisdictional or substantive grounds is critical. If the Court did not have personal jurisdiction over Defendants, then it had no power to rule on the merits of the claims asserted against them and the dismissal could not have been with prejudice as a matter of law. See, *State v. Nw. Magnesite Co.*, 28 Wn. 2d 1, 42, 182 P.2d 643, 664 (1947) ("However, we do not agree with the trial court that the order dismissing those respondents should be with prejudice to the state's cause of action against them. The court having been without jurisdiction over those parties, by reason of lack of proper service upon them or of general appearance by them, it had no power to pass upon the merits of the state's case as against those parties."

Based on the above reasoning, Judge Schubert granted vacating the 2017 order (App. C):

"The parties (and the appellate court) are entitled to know the legal effect of this Court's orders. Was dismissal due to a lack of personal jurisdiction, and thus without prejudice? Or was dismissal with prejudice due to a finding of both personal jurisdiction over Defendants and a lack of meritorious claims against them?

The silence of this Court's orders in that regard creates a question of regularity of the proceedings that justifies relief from the operation of those orders. Accordingly, this Court GRANTS the motion for reconsideration."

D. Court of Appeals reinstated the 2017 Order without addressing *Magnesite*, or explaining why 2019 Order consistent with precedent was an abuse of discretion.

SCH physicians appealed Judge Schubert's Order. Over two months before the issuance of

the Opinion, Petitioners submitted RAP 10.8 Statement of Additional Authorities (See App. H):

Pursuant to RAP 10.8, Appellants cite the following additional authorities, with regard to issues in their opening brief, *i.e.*, (1) whether trial court lacking personal jurisdiction can reach merits (*e.g.*, Brief at P. 20- 24) and (2) whether minors had been properly before the court (*e.g.*, Brief at P. 31; 39).

Melo v. U.S. 505 F 2d 1026 (8th Cir. 1974) ("Once jurisdiction is challenged, the court cannot proceed when it clearly appears that the court lacks jurisdiction, the court has no authority to reach merits, but rather should dismiss the action.")

28 U.S. Code § 1654 ("In all courts of the United States the parties may plead and conduct their own cases personally or by counsel...".).

John v. County of San Diego, 114 F. 3d 874, 877 (9th Cir. 1987) ("a nonlawyer 'has no authority to appear as an attorney for others than himself")

Wash. State Bar Assn. v. Great W. Union Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn., 91 Wn.2d 48, 586 P.2d 870 (1978) ("[o]rdinarily, only those persons who are licensed to practice law in this state..."[t]he 'pro se' exception are quite limited and apply only if the layperson is acting solely on his own behalf."

RCW 2.48.170 ("Only active members may practice law").

Division One did not address any of the above authorities in its Opinion, nor did it

address Magnesite, which requires dismissal without prejudice in the absence of personal

jurisdiction. It similarly did not explain how a court can reach merits before discovery or

render judgment against children who were unrepresented by licensed lawyers. Chen moved

for reconsideration, arguing that pro se parents cannot act on children's behalf:

- Jurisdiction is the *first* issue to address. As stated by the Supreme Court of the United States, "Jurisdiction is the power to hear and determine the subject matter in controversy between parties to a suit, to adjudicate or exercise any judicial power over them" *Rhode Island v. Massachusetts*, 37 U.S. 657, 718 (1838). This Court did not explain how Judge Hill can render a judgment when facing jurisdictional challenge. (emphasis in original).
- minors had not been properly before the courts. "In all courts of the United States the parties may plead and conduct their own cases personally or by counsel" 28 U.S.C. § 1654. Similarly, Washington courts have long recognized that only licensed lawyers can practice law. Washington State Ass 'n v. Washington Ass 'n of Realtors, 41 Wn.2d 697, 699, 251 P.2d 619 (1952). In Wash. State Bar Assn. v. Great W. Union Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn., 91 Wn.2d 48, 586 P.2d 870 (1978), Washington Supreme Court reiterated that "[o]rdinarily, only those persons who are licensed to practice law in this state". RCW 2.48.010 et seq; APR 5, 7. Having recognized the "pro se exception", the Supreme Court stated that "[t]he 'pro se' exceptions are quite limited and apply only if the layperson is acting solely on his own behalf." Id.
- Since Chen's representation of J.L. and L.L. was legally prohibited, any judgment against the children was invalid. At minimum, any dismissal as to the children should be "without prejudice."
- In making a determination that the *pro se* parents could represent their minor children in this case, the Court improperly granted them privileges of unauthorized practice of law, which is prohibited by laws.

See, App. I. Division One denied the Motion for reconsideration.

IV. WHY THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT FOR REVIEW

There are few concepts that are as important to our nation's jurisprudence as that of jurisdiction. As stated by the Supreme Court of the United States, "Jurisdiction is the power to hear and determine the subject matter in controversy between parties to a suit, to adjudicate or exercise any judicial power over them" *Rhode Island v. Massachusetts*, 37 U.S. 657, 718 (1838). Because of its importance, objections to jurisdiction can be raised *at any time*: before or after final judgment. CR 12 (h)(3), RAP 2.5(a)(1), CR 60(b)(5).

In addition to the jurisdictional issues, this case involves the unauthorized practice of law and the right to access to the courts for children and the disabled, both of which apply here. These issues may be addressed irrespective of whether they were addressed in the lower courts since the power to regulate the practice of law lies within the sole jurisdiction of the Supreme Court. *Graham.*

<u>This is a constitutional case.</u> RAP 13.4 (b)(3). Washington's constitution, Const. art. 4, §1 vests the judicial power of the State in the judiciary. "One of the basic functions of the judicial branch of government is the regulation of the practice of law". *Washington State Bar Association v. State.* This includes ensuring proper jurisdiction and protecting the vulnerable.

<u>This is a case involving substantial public interests</u>. RAP 13.4 (b)(3) &(4). For decades, this Court has stressed that regulation of the practice of law is necessary to protect the court and the profession, ensure the proper administration of justice and further the public interest. To this end, the unauthorized practice of law includes laypersons acting on behalf of others. *Wash. State Bar Assn. v. Great W. Union Fed. Saw. & Loan Assn.*

Division One's decision conflicts with this Courts' multiple decisions. RAP 13.4 (b) (1). "Once the Washington Supreme Court has decided an issue of state law, its conclusion is binding on lower courts." *State v. Zimmerman*, 130 Wn. App. 170, 121 P.3d 1216 (2005).

- A. Division One's decision ignores the fundamental jurisdictional issue, conflicts with this Court's holding in *Magnesite*, and raises a constitutional question about judicial power. RAP 13. 4(b)(1)&(3).
- 1. The 2017 order was void *ab initio* due to unsigned complaints, unserved defendants and unrepresented minors.

The Supreme Court has made clear that the order was void when the court "lacks personal jurisdiction or subject matter jurisdiction over the claim." *Marley v. Dep' t of Labor & Indus.*, 125 Wn.2d 533, 541, 886 P. 2d 189 (1994). "Jurisdiction does not relate to the right of the parties, as between each other, but to the power of the court". *Wesley v. Schmeckloth*, 55 Wn.2d 90, 93-94, 346 P.2d 658 (1959). "A constitutional court cannot acquire jurisdiction by agreement or stipulation. Either it has or has not jurisdiction. If it does not have jurisdiction, any judgment entered is void ab initio and is, in legal effect, no judgment at all." *Id.* The Court's jurisdiction is invoked only after a proper pleading is filed and properly served. *Ahten v. Barnes*, 158 Wn. App. 343, 350, 242 P.3d 35 (2010); CR 3 (commencement of action requires serving a copy of a summon with a complaint or by filing a complaint). Here, the trial court's jurisdiction was not invoked due to the *unsigned* complaints, *improperly* served defendants, statutorily recused judge, and *essentially unrepresented* minors.

As set forth in SCH Physicians' briefs and repeated in Division One's Opinion, service upon SCH was insufficient. *Rodriguez v. James-Jackson*, 127 Wn. App. 139, 143 111 P.3d 271 (2005) ("Basic to litigation is jurisdiction, and first to jurisdiction is service of process"); *Rabbage v. Lorella*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 289, 297, 426 P.3d 768 (2018) ("In personam jurisdiction is obtained upon the initial service of process"). Two of the complaints were also unsigned. To invoke personal jurisdiction over a party, proper service of the summons and complaint is essential. *Ahten*. Only after these procedural requirements are met does the court acquire jurisdiction. RCW 4.28.020. SCH Physicians' cited authority also supported this position. *Beard v. Branson*, 2016 WL 1705290 (Tenn. Ct. App. April 26, 2016) ("If the 'unsigned paper' is a jurisdictional notice of appeal or complaint, then the court does not obtain jurisdiction over the matter."). CP 303. While it is clear that the *pro se* attempted to serve the parties, it is equally clear that the procedural requirements were not met, as noted by the SDH physicians and Division One. The Court did not acquire jurisdiction due to the procedural defects. A judgment entered by a court lacking proper jurisdiction is void. *In re Powell*, 84 Wn. App. 432, 927 P.2d 1154 (1996).

The children were not, moreover, represented by counsel when the 2017 order was entered. "In all courts of the United States the parties may plead and conduct their own cases personally or by counsel." 28 U.S.C. § 1654. As recognized by SCH physicians, minors "are considered incompetent as a matter of law". CP 525. J.L. is also severely disabled, due in large part caused by SCH physicians' misdiagnoses. If anyone needed legal representation, it was J.L. Such representation would have required a member of the Bar who is gualified to practice law. RCW 2.48.170; APR 1(b); GR 24; Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co., 146 Wn.2d 291, 301, 45 P.3d 1068 (2002); In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Droker, 59 Wn.2d 707, 719, 370 P.2d 242 (1962); State v. Hunt, 75 Wn. App. 795, 803-05, 880 P.2d 96 (1994). The 'pro se' exceptions apply only if the layperson is acting solely on his own behalf. Wash. State Bar Ass'n v. Great W. Union Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n.; State v. Yishmael. (nonlawyers' practice of law is a strict liability offense). Since the children were (and are) legally incompetent, legal representation by licensed counsel was mandatory. In any event, minors J.L. and L.L. should not be bound to the judgment only because their names were mistakenly listed on the complaints. State v. Santos, 104 Wn.2d 142, 702 P..2d 1179 (1985) ("A child must not be a party in name only. It is fundamental that parties whose interests are at stake must have an opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner"). Without proper representation and guardian ad litem, J.L. and L.L. were

not properly before the court, and any judgment against them should be vacated as Santos.

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