# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/29/2020 3:21 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98866-8

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUSAN CHEN, as parent and natural guardian of J.L., a minor, and L.L., a minor, and NAIXIANG LIAN, as parent and natural guardian of J.L., a minor, and L.L., a minor:

Petitioner,

v.

DARREN MIGITA, M.D.; IAN KODISH, M.D.; JAMES METZ, M.D.; SEATTLE CHILDREN'S HOSPITAL,

#### Respondents.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BENNETT BIGELOW & LEEDOM, P.S.

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Bruce W. Megard, Jr. WSBA No. 7560 David M. Norman WSBA No. 40564 By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Valerie A. Villacin WSBA No. 34515

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

#### III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals properly concluded that any "perceived legal error" in the dismissal order was not a proper ground for vacating it.

Judge Hill properly dismissed plaintiffs' claims against Physicians because they were immune under RCW 26.44.060 for their good faith report of alleged child abuse or neglect, and because, among other reasons, plaintiffs failed to present any competent expert testimony to survive summary judgment showing that the Physicians failed to act within the applicable standard of care, and that any alleged failure caused the alleged injuries to plaintiffs. See

Yuille v. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 111 Wn. App. 527, 533, 45 P.3d 1107 (2002), rev. denied, 148 Wn.2d 1003 (2003); Morinaga v. Vue, 85 Wn. App. 822, 831-32, 935 P.2d 637, rev. denied, 133 Wn.2d 1012 (1997). Judge Hill's order was not void (Pet. 11-12, 14-15) and the Court of Appeals properly held that CR 60 does not authorize vacation of a judgment for any of the perceived legal errors alleged by petitioner. Its decision follows settled law, and there is no basis under RAP 13.4(b) warranting review by this Court.

None of the grounds alleged by petitioner render Judge Hill's order "void." "[A] judgment rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction is not void merely because there are irregularities or errors of law in connection therewith." *Dike v. Dike,* 75 Wn.2d 1, 8, 448 P.2d 490 (1968). It is undisputed that the superior court had jurisdiction over the subject matter of plaintiffs' action for damages against the Physicians and SCH. *See In re Schneider*, 173 Wn.2d 353, 360, ¶ 14, 268 P.3d 215 (2011).

While the absence of personal jurisdiction provides a defense that is personal to a defendant, only the absence of subject matter jurisdiction deprives the superior court of the power and authority to act. *In re Ruff*, 168 Wn. App. 109, 116, ¶ 12, 275 P.3d 1175 (2012). None of the cases relied on by petitioner (Pet. 11-12, 14-15) support her claim

that a court must, at the behest of a plaintiff, vacate a dismissal as void because the court lacked personal jurisdiction over the defendant.

The Court of Appeals properly held that the trial court erred in vacating the judgment based on what the trial court believed was a "perceived legal error" by Judge Hill in dismissing plaintiffs' claims against Physicians on the merits, when Physicians had raised an affirmative defense based on a lack of personal jurisdiction. (Op. 13) Whether Judge Hill should have first addressed the procedural argument for dismissal before considering the substantive grounds was not a matter "affecting the regularity of the proceedings" warranting vacation under CR 60(b)(1). (Op. 12, quoting Burlingame v. Consol. Mines & Smelting Co., Ltd., 106 Wn.2d 328, 336, 722 P.2d 67 (1986)) As this Court has held, "as a general rule," judges have the "discretion to rule on motions in whatever order the judge believes is most logical and efficient." State ex rel. Keeler v. Port of Peninsula, 89 Wn.2d 764, 766, 575 P.2d 713 (1978).

In this case, Judge Hill apparently found it "most logical and efficient" to address the substantive grounds for dismissal since SCH indisputably was properly served and also sought dismissal on the merits. As the Court of Appeals recognized, Judge Hill's exercise of discretion in this manner did not affect the "regularity of the

proceedings." (Op. 12) No rule of procedure precludes a court from addressing substantive grounds for dismissing a case before it addresses any challenge by defendants to personal jurisdiction. *See e.g. Stephens v. Dep't of Health & Human Servs.*, 901 F.2d 1571, 1575 (11th Cir.) ("We agree with the district court's personal jurisdiction conclusion, but it will not be necessary to discuss this point because we conclude that the trial court did not err in its alternative basis for dismissal – that Stephens' contentions on the merits may not survive a motion to dismiss."), *cert. denied*, 498 U.S. 998 (1990); *see also French v. Gabriel*, 116 Wn.2d 584, 806 P.2d 1234 (1991).

In French, defendants answered a complaint by asserting the affirmative defense of lack of personal jurisdiction due to a defect in service of the summons. When plaintiff moved for partial summary judgment, defendants asked the trial court to deny the motion, and dismiss plaintiff's CPA claim, but did not raise their affirmative defense of defective service. This Court held the trial court's order dismissing the CPA claim at the request of defendants did not preclude the court from later dismissing the entire action due to improper service of the summons on defendants. French, 116 Wn.2d at 592. In other words, as long as defendants have preserved their affirmative defense of lack of personal jurisdiction, a trial court can

rule on the substantive grounds for dismissal before it reaches any procedural grounds for dismissal.<sup>2</sup> See also Butler v. Joy, 116 Wn. App. 291, 296, 65 P.3d 671 (defendant did not have to raise the affirmative defense of defective service in her CR 56 motion for summary judgment requesting dismissal on substantive grounds), rev. denied, 150 Wn.2d 1017 (2003).

This Court's decision in *State v. N.W. Magnesite Co.*, 28 Wn.2d 1, 182 P.2d 643 (1947), does not compel a different result or warrant review. (Pet. 14-15) *N.W. Magnesite* is in fact consistent with the Court of Appeals' holding that any error by Judge Hill in reaching the substantive grounds for dismissal before addressing the procedural ground can only be remedied by a direct appeal, not a CR 60 motion to vacate. (Op. 13-14)

In *N.W. Magnesite*, two foreign corporations sought to set aside a summons and complaint that had been served on their subsidiary, which was also a co-defendant. The trial court reserved on the issue and proceeded with a trial, eventually ruling in favor of the defendants. As to the foreign defendants, the trial court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This policy makes sense as it would force a defendant to file successive motions for dismissal (first, on procedural grounds, and then later, on substantive grounds if the procedural defects raised in the first motion are cured), and would undermine judicial economy.

dismissed the action with prejudice, ruling that "the evidence discloses that no cause of action exists as to them," and because they "had not been properly served with process." 28 Wn.2d at 8.

On *direct appeal* from that order, this Court reversed both the judgment favoring the subsidiary co-defendant on the merits, and the order dismissing the foreign defendants. This Court held that "the court having been without jurisdiction over those parties, by reason of lack of proper service upon them or of general appearance by them, it had no power to pass upon the merits of the state's case as against those parties." *N.W. Magnesite*, 28 Wn.2d at 42.

The Court of Appeals' decision is not contrary to *N.W. Magnesite* because this is not a direct appeal from Judge Hill's order dismissing plaintiffs' claims against Physicians; rather, it is an appeal from the trial court's order vacating Judge Hill's order. Moreover, *N.W. Magnesite* does not hold that a court faced with alternate grounds for dismissal in a motion for summary judgment *must* address the jurisdictional grounds first. Instead, once a court concludes that it lacks personal jurisdiction over one of the defendants, the court cannot then address the merits of the action as to that defendant. Here, Judge Hill dismissed the claims against Physicians for the same reason she dismissed the claims against SCH

- on the merits. Contrary to petitioner's contention, Judge Hill did not "explicitly articulate that her decision was not based on the merits," nor does their citation to the record support this assertion. (Pet. 16, citing CP 545)

As no rule of procedure prevented Judge Hill from dismissing the claims against the Physicians on the merits while the question of personal jurisdiction was pending, the Court of Appeals properly reversed the trial court's order vacating the summary judgment order of dismissal. The Court properly held that by vacating the dismissal order based on a "perceived legal error," the trial court "treated CR 60(b) as a substitute for direct appeal. This was an abuse of discretion." (Op. 14) Its decision is wholly consistent with decisions from this Court and the Courts of Appeals holding that a judgment cannot be vacated under CR 60 because the judgment may be erroneous as a matter of law. See e.g. Kern v. Kern, 28 Wn.2d 617, 619, 183 P.2d 811 (1947) (Op. 13); Burlingame, 106 Wn.2d at 336 (Op. 10, 12, 14); Port of Port Angeles v. CMC Real Estate Corp., 114 Wn.2d 670, 675-76, 790 P.2d 145 (1990) (Op. 13); State v. Keller, 32 Wn. App. 135, 140, 647 P.2d 35 (1982) (Op. 13); Marriage of Tang, 57 Wn. App. 648, 654-56, 789 P.2d 118 (1990) (Op. 10).

B. The Court of Appeals properly concluded that petitioner's failure to request appointment of a guardian ad litem for the minor plaintiffs was not a reason to vacate the dismissal order.

The Court of Appeals also properly held that the failure to appoint a guardian ad litem for the minor plaintiffs, particularly in the absence of a timely request, does not render the order void. (Pet. 12) That holding is also consistent with settled law, and does not warrant review under RAP 13.4(b).

The absence of a guardian ad litem for minor parties has no impact on the court's jurisdiction to address the merits of a case. See Newell v. Ayers, 23 Wn. App. 767, 771, 598 P.2d 3, rev. denied, 92 Wn.2d 1036 (1979); Dependency of A.G., 93 Wn. App. 268, 280, 968 P.2d 424 (1998). Judge Hill had no duty to sua sponte appoint a guardian ad litem for the minor plaintiffs in the absence of a request to do so prior to dismissing the action. Petitioner complains that "Division One suggested that RCW 4.08.050 places initial burden upon minor's parents to request appointment of Guardian ad litem" (Pet. 20), but this is entirely consistent with this Court's decision in Kelley v. Centennial Contractors Enterprises, Inc., 169 Wn.2d 381, 236 P.3d 197 (2010), which held that RCW 4.08.050 "makes it clear that the obligation to make such a request rests with the minor children

or a relative or friend of the children." 169 Wn.2d at 389, ¶ 16.

Petitioner's claim that the Court of Appeals has sanctioned the "unauthorized practice of law" by granting "pro se litigants privilege to act on minors' behalf" is entirely without merit. (Pet. 17-20) The Court of Appeals did not address whether a parent can act as *pro se lawyer* for their minor children, as that issue has never been previously raised. Instead, in addressing petitioner's contention that Judge Hill should have sua sponte appointed a guardian ad litem, the Court of Appeals merely recognized that "[a] parent may initiate a lawsuit as a guardian on behalf of a minor child." (Op. 17, citing *Taylor v. Enumclaw Sch. Dist. No. 216*, 132 Wn. App. 688, 694, 133 P.3d 492 (2006))

None of the cases relied on by petitioner to argue that orders dismissing claims should be without prejudice to minors when the action is brought on their behalf by a pro se parent are inconsistent with the decision here. The cases cited (Pet. 19) all arise from a direct appeal of the order purportedly binding the minors, and not as here, an appeal from an order denying a motion to vacate that order. See e.g. Cheung v. Youth Orchestra Found. of Buffalo, Inc., 906 F.2d 59 (2nd Cir. 1990); Osei-Afriyie by Osei-Afriyie v. Med. Coll. of Pennsylvania, 937 F.2d 876 (3rd Cir. 1991); Johns v. Cnty. of San Diego, 114 F.3d 874 (9th Cir. 1997). Further, petitioner ignores that

the minor plaintiff J.L. had in fact been appointed counsel to represent him in the hearing on the motion to vacate, and abandoned his appeal of the trial court's refusal to vacate Judge Hill's order on the ground that he was not appointed a guardian ad litem.

## C. The Court of Appeals properly recognized that petitioner's other challenges to the dismissal order go to its merits, and did not warrant vacation.

Petitioner's other challenges to Judge Hill's order raised in the petition do not warrant review of the Court of Appeals' decision because those challenges, including that Judge Hill did not sua sponte recuse from the case, and denied their motion to continue the hearing on the summary judgment (Pet. 13), go to the merits of the decision, and not to the trial court's order denying the motion to vacate on those grounds.<sup>3</sup> In affirming on petitioner's cross-appeal, the Court of Appeals properly recognized that these challenges did not implicate any CR 60 grounds warranting vacation of Judge Hill's order. (Op. 15: the Court will "not consider [petitioner's] arguments that are solely directed at the underlying 2017 summary judgment order because those arguments cannot be raised in this appeal from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Respondent Physicians also incorporates the arguments presented by respondent SCH in its answer to the petition for review, pursuant to RAP 10.1(g).

the court's decision on her motion to vacate") The Court of Appeals' decision is wholly consistent with decisions from both this Court and the Courts of Appeals holding that in reviewing an order denying a motion to vacate, the court "is limited to the propriety of the denial not the impropriety of the underlying judgment." *Bjurstrom v. Campbell,* 27 Wn. App. 449, 450-51, 618 P.2d 533 (1980) (Op. 15); *Burlingame,* 106 Wn.2d at 336 (Op. 10); *see also Haley v. Highland,* 142 Wn.2d 135, 158, 12 P.3d 119 (2000) (appellant cannot use the appeal of a motion to reach the merits of an issue that was not appealed). Petitioner's collateral attack on the judgment of dismissal continues to ignore this settled law.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review.